### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-2007

JOHN D. FREEMAN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

\_\_\_\_\_

MICHAEL P. REITER
Capital Collateral Regional
Counsel-North
Florida Bar No. 0320234

HARRY P. BRODY Assistant CCRC-N Florida Bar No. 0977860

JEFFREY M. HAZEN
Assistant CCRC-N
Florida Bar No. 0153060

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL COUNSEL Northern Region of Florida 1533-B South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On December 4, 1986, Mr. Freeman was charged in Case No. 86-11599 with burglary and the first-degree murder of Alvin Epps (that case is hereinafter referred to as <u>Freeman</u> I or the "Epps case") (R1. 12-13). On April 23, 1987, Mr. Freeman was charged with burglary and the first-degree murder of Leonard Collier in Case No. 87-3527 (that case is hereinafter referred to as <u>Freeman</u> II or the "Collier case") (R2. 145).

In <u>Freeman</u> I, Mr. Freeman was found guilty of first-degree murder and burglary on October 9, 1987 (R1. 399-401). On October 13, 1987, the jury recommended a life sentence (R1. 441). Subsequently, the trial court overrode the jury's recommendation and sentenced Mr. Freeman to death on December 11, 1987 (R1. 572-97). On direct appeal of <u>Freeman</u> I, this court affirmed Mr. Freeman's convictions, but ordered that a life sentence be imposed. <u>Freeman v. State</u>, 548 So.2d 125 (Fla. 1989).

On September 15, 1988, while <u>Freeman</u> I was on direct appeal, Mr. Freeman was convicted of first-degree murder and burglary in <u>Freeman</u> II (R2. 1564). The jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of 9-3 on September 16, 1988 (R2. 1752). On November 2, 1988, the trial court sentenced Mr. Freeman to death (R2. 257-59). On direct appeal of <u>Freeman</u> II, this Court affirmed Mr. Freeman's

convictions and death sentence. <u>Freeman v. State</u>, 563 So.2d 73 (Fla. 1990).

Mr. Freeman proceeded in postconviction only as to <u>Freeman</u> II and filed his first Rule 3.850 motion on June 29, 1992. Mr. Freeman filed an amended Rule 3.850 motion on October 26, 1994. On July 29, 1996, the lower court summarily denied all eleven claims raised by Mr. Freeman. On direct appeal of that summary denial, this Court affirmed in part, but remanded the case for an evidentiary hearing on two claims. Freeman v. State, 761 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 2000).

On July 16-17, 2001, the lower court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the issues of racial bias in seeking the death penalty and ineffective assistance of counsel. Subsequent to the evidentiary hearing, the lower court entered an order denying relief on July 24, 2001 (PC-R. 155-67). This appeal follows.

### II. STATEMENT OF THE FREEMAN II PENALTY PHASE FACTS

At the penalty phase of the Collier trial, the State called Debra Epps and detective W.R. Dewitt in order to support the prior violent felony aggravator (R2. 1611-26). Debra Epps was the victim's wife in the Epps case and Dewitt was the lead detective on the Epps case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This Court ordered an evidentiary hearing on the issues of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase and the allegation that the state improperly sought the death penalty against Mr. Freeman because of considerations of race.

The defense first called Mary Freeman, John Freeman's mother (R2. 1627). Mary Freeman testified that John was born in 1963 and that his last name at birth was Jewell, after his biological father, Charles Jewell (R2. 1628). Mary testified that John's father left her when John was approximately 6 months old (R2. 1630). Mary married Charles Freeman who she felt was too harsh of a disciplinarian (R2. 1631). Mary stated she would have to step in and stop Charles Freeman when he went too far in disciplining the children (R2. 1632). Mary stated that she loves John (R2. 1632). Charles Freeman never legally adopted John (R2. 1633).

Robert Jewell testified that he is John's older brother by 3 years (R2. 1635). Robert stated that he does not have good feelings toward his stepfather (R2. 1635). Charles Freeman once whipped he and John with switches (R2. 1635). On another occasion, Charles beat them with neckties (R2. 1636). Robert recalled Charles hitting John with a closed fist (R2. 1636). Charles verbally assaulted the brothers (R2. 1637). Charles did not show the brothers attention or give them praise (R2. 1637). Robert stated that John draws well (R2. 1639). Robert testified that John was nice to his girlfriend's children (R2. 1641).

Dr. Louis Legum testified that he is a clinical psychologist and that he evaluated John Freeman (R2. 1647). Dr. Legum explained his testing and stated that he looks for indication of

neuropsychological disturbance (R2. 1648). Legum stated that John Freeman scored an 83 on the Wechsler Intelligence test (R2. 1648). This is below average intelligence (R2. 1648). John Freeman's results on academic achievement tests were especially low, in the mentally retarded range (R2. 1649). Dr. Legum was unable to explain why John would place so low on the achievement tests, given his I.Q. score (R2. 1650). Legum opined that John may suffer from a learning disability (R2. 1651). The low scores may be a result of environmental factors (R2. 1651). Legum found no indication of malingering in John (R2. 1657). Dr. Legum did not get the sense that John was trying "to play dumb" (R2. 1657). Legum stated that John probably processes information more slowly than most (R2. 1658). John admitted culpability for the Collier homicide, but denied any involvement in Epps (R2. 1660). Dr. Legum stated that he did not talk to any witnesses (R2. 1662). Legum testified that he thinks there "is some impairment" in John's ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law (R2. 1665).

David Sorrells testimony from the Epps trial was done via readback. Sorrells testified that he has known John since junior high school (R2. 1683). Sorrells knew John was beaten and has seen marks on John's body (R2. 1684). John did not spend much time at home (R2. 1684). John was a hard worker and liked kids (R2. 1684).

### III. STATEMENT OF THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS

At the evidentiary hearing, Brad Stetson testified that he is currently a Circuit Judge in Duval County and has been so for 10 years (EHT. 13). Prior to that, Stetson served as a prosecutor in the  $4^{th}$  Circuit for 11 years (EHT. 13).

Stetson stated that he tried both the Collier and Epps cases (EHT. 14). At the time of the trials, Stetson was the Supervisor of Circuit Courts and a member of the State Attorney's Office "Homicide Team" (EHT. 14-15). Stetson was assigned to both cases "early on" (EHT. 15).

Stetson testified that he recalls a pre-trial conversation with Mr. Freeman's trial attorney, Patrick McGuiness, regarding the race of the victims in the cases (EHT. 16). The conversation, according to Stetson, took place over the phone (EHT. 16). Stetson stated that the conversation took place in the context of a plea negotiation wherein Mr. McGuiness was offering a plea to life (EHT. 17).

Although Stetson did not recall the exact words, he stated that he rejected Mr. McGuiness' offer and "added some sarcasm" (EHT. 17).

Again, according to Stetson, he told McGuiness that if he agreed to the plea, McGuiness would use that against him in an argument that the State seeks death against white defendants less often than against black ones (EHT. 18). Stetson testified that he took offense at the argument that the state seeks death more often in black-on-white murders. (EHT. 18).

and that he had a duty to seek death (EHT. 19-20). Stetson cited the fact that both victims were home owners and that Mr. Freeman had a prior record (EHT. 19). Stetson stated that his belief that Mr. Freeman could have escaped without killing was "another factor" (EHT. 21). Further, Stetson testified that he believed racism was a motive for the murder and that he considered the perceived racism when deciding to seek death (EHT. 21-22). Stetson added that he thinks it is a death case without the racism element (EHT. 24). Stetson recalled that Judge Parsons, who tried the Epps case, permitted him to argue racism to the jury, but Stetson decided to forego such an argument because of appellate prospects (EHT. 22). Stetson didn't feel introducing the racism element was prudent (EHT. 29).

Stetson testified that the cases would have been presented to the Homicide Team (EHT. 25). The team had 5 to 7 members and included State Attorney Ed Austin (EHT. 25). Everyone on the team agreed this was a death case (EHT 25). As the lead prosecutor, Stetson would have presented the case to the team (EHT. 26). Stetson added that he and Austin did not talk extensively about the racial element (EHT. 30).

Stetson remembered that Mr. Freeman was from an integrated neighborhood where people got along well (EHT. 27). Mr. Freeman lived in the same basic neighborhood as the victims (EHT. 27).

On cross-examination, Stetson testified that he had tried 4 to 5 other first-degree murder cases at the time of Mr. Freeman's trials (EHT. 32). Stetson had sought the death penalty previously (EHT. 32).

Stetson stated that the Collier case involved a home burglary where the factual proof of guilt was strong (EHT. 34). According to Stetson, the prior conviction for the Epps murder was the strongest aggravator in the Collier case (EHT. 35). Stetson felt that Collier was a much stronger case on the facts than Epps (EHT. 36).

Stetson testified that the racial-motive evidence was circumstantial and that, when weighed against the strong factual evidence of guilt, he decided not to use it (EHT. 36).

Stetson testified that race is "certainly" a factor which a prosecutor considers when deciding whether to seek death (EHT. 37). Stetson added that "Mr. Austin would probably tell you this also" (EHT. 37). Stetson went on to state that community perception is a consideration when deciding to seek death (EHT. 37). The State Attorney's Office was sensitive to the wishes and needs of the community (EHT. 38). On this point, Stetson added that he took offense at the argument that the state is racially biased in seeking the death penalty and that he thought it important that the public "perceive" that he was doing his job fairly (EHT. 38). Stetson went on to state that he felt if he agreed to Mr. McGuiness' plea offer,

he would be lending credence to the racial bias argument (EHT. 38). Stetson concluded by saying that the State Attorney's Office never sought death because of the race of the victim or defendant (EHT. 38).

Ed Austin testified that he was the State Attorney for the Fourth Circuit from 1969 to 1991, during which time the Freeman cases were tried (EHT. 43). Austin stated that Brad Stetson was a division chief and a member of the Homicide Team (EHT. 43). All cases involving the death penalty would come to Austin's attention after review by the Homicide Team (EHT. 43). Austin said he "would have" had some direct discussion with Stetson about the propriety of the death penalty in Mr. Freeman's case (EHT. 46). However, Austin had no personal recollection of the Freeman cases and no independent recollection of discussions about the Freeman cases (EHT. 44).

Austin stated that he was aware of criticism of his office regarding the propensity to prosecute black-on-white crime (EHT. 47). Austin added that prosecutors are aware of public opinion (EHT. 49). Austin maintained that he never prosecuted a case because of race, but he was aware of the consequences of his decisions (EHT. 49). Austin testified that racial hatred could be an element to consider in a case (EHT. 50).

On cross-examination, Austin stated that, while he was generally in charge of office policy, the Homicide Team would be

headed by a separate lawyer (EHT. 51). He added that the Homicide

Team would bring him a collective recommendation (EHT. 52). Austin

maintained that he never filed a case because of public opinion (EHT. 52).

Ann Finnell testified that she has been an Assistant Public

Defender in the Fourth Circuit for 23 years (EHT. 55). She was cocounsel with Patrick McGuiness in representing Mr. Freeman on the

Epps case (EHT. 55). Prior to the Epps trial, Finnell asked

McGuiness where negotiation efforts stood on the Freeman case (EHT.

56). McGuiness told Finnell that the case could not be pled out
because of a race factor (EHT. 57). McGuiness told Finell that

Stetson wanted to "even out the playing field" by prosecuting a white
person for killing a black one (EHT. 58). Finnell recalled that the

McKleskey<sup>2</sup> case was before the 11th Circuit Court of Appeals at the

time of Mr. Freeman's trials (EHT. 58).

Finnell recalled Brad Stetson making statements during the Epps case to the effect that death was justified because of Mr. Freeman's alleged racial attitudes (EHT. 58). After the Epps penalty phase (wherein the jury recommended a life sentence), but prior to sentencing, Finnell received a call to report to Judge Parson's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>McKleskey v. Kemp, 481 U.S. 279, 107 S.Ct. 1756, 95 L.Ed.2d 262 (1987).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The Epps case was tried by Judge William Parsons. Judge Parsons recused himself pursuant to a defense motion to

chambers (EHT. 59). When she arrived, Stetson was also present along with Assistant State Attorney George Bateh and Judge Parsons (EHT. 60). Judge Parsons stated that he felt race was a motive for the murder of Epps (EHT. 60). Stetson stated that he agreed with that assessment (EHT. 60). Finnell objected, asked that a court reporter be brought in, and asked that Mr. Freeman be present (EHT. 60). Judge Parsons denied Finnell's request and stated that he would not have the conversation on the record (EHT. 60). Finnell then asked to be excused in order to call Chief Assistant Public Defender Bill White (EHT. 60). After this, Finnell again requested that the conversation be put on the record (EHT. 61). At this point Stetson and Bateh spoke privately, after which Stetson receded from his position that a racial motive should be considered in sentencing (EHT. 61).

Finnell identified a Motion to Disqualify Judge Parsons from presiding over the Collier trial (EHT. 64, Defense Exhibit 2).

Finnell testified that there was no doubt that Stetson was arguing race as a basis to override the jury's recommendation in Epps (EHT. 64). At the sentencing hearing for the Epps case, while Judge Parsons denied that the off-record conversation took place, Stetson and Bateh said nothing (EHT. 65). In his sentencing order overriding

disqualify prior to the Collier case. The Collier case was tried by Judge Donald Moran.

the jury's recommendation, Judge Parsons cited race as a motivating factor for the Epps murder (EHT. 65, Defense Exhibit 3). Finnell stated that the defense could have rebutted the notion that Mr. Freeman harbored racial hatred (EHT. 66). However, no evidence was ever presented to support this notion (EHT. 66).

On cross-examination, Finnell testified that she is currently the felony court supervisor and was in that position at the time of the Freeman trials (EHT. 68). She stated that she has defended numerous homicide defendants and is a member of the Public Defender's Homicide Team (EHT. 69). Finnell volunteered to try the Epps case with Pat McGuiness (EHT. 68).

Finnell testified that although she doesn't know exactly what Stetson thought about the death penalty in this case, it is fair to say he was intransigent in his efforts to seek death (EHT. 74).

Although she doesn't remember hearing Stetson make a statement about "getting the numbers up", she does remember McGuiness talking to her about it (EHT. 75). Finnell agreed that State Attorney is an elected office and that the office must consult with victims regarding pleas (EHT. 78). In response to prosecutor Taylor's suggestion that it would be naive for the state not to consider race in deciding whether to seek death, Finnell responded that it would be naive to in fact consider race in such a determination (EHT. 78). Finnell added that she believes death should be sought as a penalty based on an

application of the facts to the law (EHT. 79). Finnell testified that she believes the off-record conversation in Judge Parsons chambers shows both Stetson's and Parsons' frame of mind regarding race in this case (EHT. 81).

Finnell testified that she and McGuiness worked together on Epps and that she did some preparation of mitigation evidence (EHT. 70). In the Epps case, there were major questions about Mr. Freeman's guilt and, thus, there was a major focus on the guilt phase (EHT. 71). In terms of mitigation, Finnell testified that the objective would have been to hire a mental health expert, talk to as many family witnesses as they could find, and obtain records (EHT. 72). Finnell added that they would want to find out as much positive information about John as possible (EHT. 73).

On redirect examination, Finnell stated as to mitigation that she would want to use evidence of head injuries, would want to establish non-statutory mental health mitigation if possible, would want to give evidence of suicidal ideation by the defendant to a psychologist, and would want to present evidence of physical or sexual abuse of the defendant or a close sibling (EHT. 82-83). In mitigation, she would want to present good things the defendant has done or bad things that happened to him (EHT. 83). The purpose of mitigation is to "pave" the life history of the defendant for the jury (EHT. 83).

Upon inquiry by the court, Finnell testified that it is her understanding that the mitigation presented in Epps and Collier was virtually the same (EHT. 86-87).

Patrick McGuiness was called to testify at the evidentiary hearing on two separate occasions. Once by Mr. Freeman, once by the state.

When called by Mr. Freeman, Patrick McGuiness testified that he has been an Assistant Public Defender for 23 years and that he represented Mr. Freeman on the Epps and Collier cases (EHT. 88).

McGuiness spoke with Mr. Freeman prior to the trials (EHT. 89).

Mr. Freeman admitted the Collier murder, but denied killing Epps

(EHT. 89). McGuiness felt that Mr. Freeman would be convicted in

both cases so he suggested to Mr. Freeman that he plea to consecutive

life/25 sentences (EHT. 89).

McGuiness undertook plea negotiations with Brad Stetson (EHT. 88). McGuiness and Stetson had a conversation during the discovery phase of the trials regarding those negotiations (EHT. 89). The conversation took place at the copy center of the Public Defender's Office (EHT. 89). McGuiness believed that they were conducting depositions at the time (EHT. 90). McGuiness told Stetson that he had authorization from Mr. Freeman for a plea to consecutive life/25 sentences (EHT. 90). McGuiness tried to sell Stetson on the finality and mutual benefit of such a plea (EHT. 90). McGuiness testified "He

(Stetson) responded that normally he would consider it, but he couldn't in this instance because they had to get their numbers up on whites killing blacks" (EHT. 90). McGuiness remembered that McKleskey was pending at that time (EHT. 90). McGuiness testified that he understood what Stetson was saying and that it struck him as ironic given the issue in McKleskey (EHT. 91). McGuiness urged Stetson to consider the offer, which remained open (EHT. 91).

McGuiness mentioned the conversation with Stetson to his co-counsel, Ann Finnell (EHT. 92). Other than that, McGuiness testified that he did nothing to address the issue (EHT. 92). McGuiness testified that he did not know what vehicle he could use to address the issue (EHT. 91).

McGuiness recalled that Judge Parsons addressed race in his sentencing order from Epps and that he moved to disqualify Parsons as a result (EHT. 93-94).

In terms of mitigation, McGuiness testified that head injuries to the defendant could be important if tied to the defendant's conduct or as a basis for statutory mitigation (EHT. 95). McGuiness would want an expert to consider suicidal ideation by a defendant (EHT. 96). The presentation of evidence of drug and/or alcohol use would depend on context (EHT. 96). McGuiness stated he put on evidence of physical abuse to Mr. Freeman, but that he had no evidence that Mr. Freeman was sexually abused (EHT. 96). McGuiness

remembered that Mr. Freeman's family members were somewhat uncooperative (EHT. 96).

McGuiness was aware that Mr. Freeman was hoarding pills and that he was hospitalized for suicidal ideation (EHT. 97). McGuiness was also aware of a childhood head injury where Mr. Freeman was run over by a car (EHT. 97). McGuiness made attempts to verify the injury (EHT. 97). He felt he could not connect the head injury to the murder and, as a result, did not use evidence of the head injury (EHT. 97-98). McGuiness testified that he was aware that Mr. Freeman had a history of drug use (EHT. 98). McGuiness agreed that a document from his file indicated Mr. Freeman had used drugs (EHT. 101, Defense Exhibit 4).

Although he was "painfully aware" that he had the additional aggravator of a prior murder in Collier, McGuiness did not remember developing any further mitigation (EHT. 102-03).

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