IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN D. FREEMAN,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC01-2007

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

v.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

Ann Finnell, an Assistant Public Defender, who was co-counsel in the Epps case,⁷ testified that at the time of trial there was a case before the Eleventh Circuit involving whether prosecutors were prosecuting more blacks for killing whites. (EH 55, 57). She testified that lead counsel told her that the prosecutor was unwilling to negotiate because this case involved the opposite and the prosecutor wanted to even out the playing field by prosecuting a white defendant for killing a black victim. (EH 57). She also testified as to a conversation in Judge Parson's chamber, who was the presiding judge in the Epps case, with the judge and the prosecutor. (EH 59). The judge stated that he thought that race was part of the defendant's motive for the murder and the prosecutor agreed. (EH 60). She testified that the prosecutor urged the judge to consider the defendant's racial motive as a reason to override the jury's life recommendation in the Epps case. (EH 64). She admitted that the aggravating circumstances were such that death was a possible penalty. (EH 75).

The trial court found that the prosecutor response to the plea offer was a "somewhat ill-considered retort" to the then existing allegations of racial discrimination regarding the death penalty failed to demonstrate a racially motivated purpose in pursuing the death penalty in this case. (R. I 156-157). Rather, the trial court found the decision was based on a review of the facts and the aggravating factors. The trial court noted

[/] Janine Sasser was co-counsel in this case, the Collier
murder. (EH 57)

that this case was the second case in which the defendant went into the home of an innocent homeowner and then brutally murdered the home owner while committing the burglary. The trial court explained that the individual prosecutor's decision was reviewed "Homicide Team" which would make a recommendation to the State Attorney, Ed Austin, who testified that his office never prosecuted a defendant because they were white or black. (157).⁸

Procedural bar

This issue is procedurally barred. The trial court found the issue to be procedurally barred, in the original order, prior to the remand. The prior order stated: "[f]raming his argument in effective assistance of counsel language will not avoid the procedural bar. (R. III 433)⁹ This Court remanded this case for an evidentiary hearing on the ineffectiveness claim, not as an equal protection or due process claim. *Freeman*, 761 So.2d at 1068. Here, defense counsel, as he admitted at the evidentiary hearing, was aware of the prosecutor's statement refusing to plea bargain prior to the trial. Any due process, equal protection, or Eighth Amendment claim regarding the statement should have be litigated on direct appeal. While a straight equal protection claim could be properly litigated in collateral

⁸ The trial court referred to this claim as a due process claim rather than an equal protection claim. (R. 155). *McCleskey* involved an equal protection and an Eighth Amendment claim.

⁹ This record cite is to the prior record on appeal. The original order was entered on July 29, 1996.

proceeding if the statement was not discovered until later, here, the statement was known prior to trial. The basis of the claim was known at the time of the direct appeal and should have been litigated then. Asay v. State, 769 So.2d 974, 979 (Fla. 2000)(finding claim of judicial bias to be procedurally barred because the judge's statements that formed the basis of the claim were known at the time of the direct appeal and distinguishing Porter v. State, 723 So.2d 191, 194 (Fla.1998), where the statements were unknown at the time of the direct appeal). Any pure equal protection claim is procedurally barred and Freeman is limited to litigating this issue as an ineffectiveness claim.

The standard of review

Whether the prosecutor is engaging in selective plea bargaining in violation of the equal protection clause is a pure question of law reviewed *de novo*. *United States v. Webster*, 162 F.3d 308,333 (5th Cir. 1998)(reviewing de novo a selective prosecution claim based on racial discrimination in the charging decision in a federal death penalty case). However, the trial court's credibility determinations are factual findings subject to the clearly erroneous standard of review.¹⁰

¹⁰ The trial court's order while not explicitly stating that it found Judge Stetson's testimony regarding what he said, *i.e.*, any such decision would be used against him, more credible than the testimony that the prosecutor actually said that he "needed to get his numbers up", implicitly found this. The trial court's statement "even assuming that Mr. Stetson responded to the plea offer as Mr. McGuiness indicted" is an alternate argument, not a finding that the prosecutor actually

<u>Merits</u>

This is a reverse *McCleskey* claim. Freeman is arguing that at one time, or more correctly in Georgia in the 1970's where the Baldus study was conducted, he would have been unlikely to have received the death penalty because he is a white defendant who murdered an African-American. Therefore, he claims that the prosecutor refusing to plea bargain in his case violates equal protection.

In McCleskey v. Kemp, 481 U.S. 279, 107 S.Ct. 1756, 95 L.Ed.2d 262 (1987), a African-American capital defendant, who had killed a white victim, sought habeas relief alleging that Georgia's capital sentencing scheme was being applied in a racially discriminatory manner. McCleskey involved a statistical study regarding the imposition of death sentences in murder cases in Georgia during the 1970's that concluded that decisions to seek and the imposition of the death penalty were racially skewed. The study found that defendants charged with killing white victims were 4.3 times more likely to receive a death sentence as defendants charged with killing African-Amercian victims. McCleskey 481 U.S. at 287, 107 S.Ct. at 1764. The study also found that prosecutors seek the death penalty much more often in cases involving black defendants with white victims than in cases involving white defendants with black victims.¹¹ The

used the phase "needed to get his numbers up."

¹¹ The study found that prosecutors sought the death penalty in 70% of the cases involving black defendants and white victims, 32% of the cases involving white defendants and white victims, 15% of the cases involving black defendants and black victims, and 19% of the cases involving white defendants and McCleskey Court held that a capital defendant must prove that the decision makers in his case acted with discriminatory purpose. McCleskey, 481 U.S. at 292, 107 S.Ct. at 1767. The McCleskey Court defined discriminatory purpose, explaining that it implies more than intent as volition or intent as awareness of consequences. It implies that the decision maker selected or reaffirmed a particular course of action, at least in part because of, not merely in spite of, its adverse effects upon an identifiable group. The Court explained that McCleskey would have to prove that the Georgia Legislature enacted or maintained the death penalty statute because of an anticipated racially discriminatory effect. McCleskey, 481 U.S. at 298, 107 S.Ct. at 1770. The Court rejected McCleskey's claim because he offered no evidence specific to his own case to support an inference that racial considerations played a part in his sentence. The Court found the Baldus study to be insufficient to support an inference that the decision makers in McCleskey's case acted with purposeful discrimination. See Foster v. State, 614 So.2d 455, 463 (Fla.1992)(holding that no evidentiary hearing was required to explore a claim of racial bias in the State Attorney's Office where there was nothing to suggest that the state attorney's office acted with purposeful discrimination in seeking the death penalty in the particular case, relying on McCleskey).

black victims. McCleskey, 481 U.S. at 287, 107 S.Ct. at 1764.

Here, the prosecutor gave a completely race neutral explanation for seeking the death penalty. The prosecutor testified that this was a death case regardless of race. Freeman had a prior murder conviction (the Epps murder) that involved the same type of facts. The defendant killed the two victims during burglaries of their homes. The two murders occurred within 22 days of one another. One of the victims was repeatedly stabbed and the other victim was beaten to death. Additionally, the State's evidence of guilt murder was strong because Freeman was caught nearby, shortly after the murder, with blood on him. Freeman was basically caught red handed (or clothed). He confessed to the burglary and to beating the victim. These are the precise considerations the Supreme Court identified as proper and legitimate grounds for such a decision. McCleskey, 481 U.S. at 297, 107 S.Ct. at 1769(noting that because a legitimate and unchallenged explanation for the decision is apparent from the record, namely, that McCleskey committed an act for which the United States Constitution and Georgia laws permit imposition of the death penalty). Here, as in McCleskey, a legitimate and unchallenged explanation for the decision is apparent from the record: Freeman committed an act for which the United States Constitution and Florida laws permit imposition of the death penalty. The jury's death recommendation and the trial court's findings in aggravation attest to these objective considerations. United States v. Webster, 162 F.3d 308,335 (5th Cir. 1998)(rejecting a selective prosecution challenge to the federal Death Penalty Act because

- 19 -

a non-discriminatory explanation for seeking the death penalty was evident from the facts, the objective circumstances of the crime and the sufficiency and availability of evidence justify the decision and the verdict attests to the objective considerations). This prosecutor, if he had no knowledge of the race of the victims, would have refused to negotiate a plea where the defendant killed two people within a month. Hence, regardless of any statement by the prosecutor during the plea offer, this case is properly a death case.

Furthermore, this prosecutor did not act alone. His decision to seek the death penalty was reviewed by the Homicide team composed of other prosecutors with death penalty experience. The case was also personally reviewed by the elected State Attorney. Ed Austin testified that his decision was not based on race. He testified that the decision was based on the law and the facts of the case. (EH 47-48). Additionally, there were a "number of blacks on the jury". (XXXVI 1070). This racially balanced jury recommended death. The prosecutor, of course, did not impose the death penalty; rather, a racially balanced jury recommended death and the judge imposed it.

Regardless of what the prosecutor said, it is not sufficient to establish a selective plea bargaining claim. To establish such a claim the defendant must show both (1) that other similarly situated capital defendants have had prosecutors accept their plea offers of life and (2) that the refusal to

- 20 -

accept the plea was based on an impermissible racial motive.¹² Even if the prosecutor's statement is viewed as satisfying the second prong, Freeman did not establish the first. Freeman's selective plea bargaining claim fails because he did not introduce evidence that similarly situated defendants are treated differently. Freeman needed to establish that the prosecutor would accept a plea to life in cases with a defendant who killed two victims. The only evidence of other cases, where a white defendant killed two African-Americans in Duval County introduced at the evidentiary hearing, were Asay v. State, 580 So.2d 610 (Fla. 1991) and Ellis v. State, 622 So.2d 991 (Fla.1993). In both cases, the death penalty was imposed. So, the Duval prosecutors in both those cases also refused to agree to a plea to life. Freeman did not establish that he was treated differently.¹³

¹³ Actually, it is not clear who is "similarly situated" other white defendants who killed two African-American victims or, for purpose of a reverse discrimination case, an African-American who killed African-American victims or the completely opposite combination of an African-American defendant who killed

¹² Cf United States v. Armstrong, 517 U.S. 456, 469, 116 S.Ct. 1480, 1487, 134 L.Ed.2d 687 (1996) (requiring the defendant to produce some evidence that similarly situated defendants of other races could have been prosecuted, but were not, to establish a selective prosecution claim which requires a showing of both discriminatory effect and discriminatory intent); Jones v. White, 992 F.2d 1548, 1571-1572 (11th Cir. 1993)(explaining to show selective prosecution, a petitioner must that demonstrate two requirements: (1) he has been singled out for prosecution although others similarly situated who have committed the same acts have not been prosecuted and (2) the government's selective prosecution of him was motivated by constitutionally impermissible motives such as race, religion or his exercise of constitutional rights); State v. A.R.S., 684 So.2d 1383, 1385 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996).

Similarly situated defendants are treated the same. Any defendant of whatever race who killed two victims of any race is likely to receive the death penalty. Baldus' 230-variable model divided cases into eight different aggravation levels. McCleskey, 481 U.S. at 285, n.5, 107 S.Ct. at 1763. n.5. According to the Baldus study, the effects of race were present in the mid-range cases; by contrast, in highly aggravated cases, the effects of race went away. Highly aggravated cases included those that involved torture or multiple victims. Basically, defendants, regardless of their race, received the death penalty for killing multiple victims, regardless of the victim's race. Defendants got the death penalty when they killed more than one person, just like Freeman did.

The prosecutor's retort that if he agreed to a plea bargain, the defense bar would use this case as an example of the State not seeking death in a case where they should, is not a statement showing racial bias. The prosecutor is saying he is not going to engage in any racial discrimination both because it would violate his duty and because it would be used against the death penalty (and him). The prosecutor is explaining the adverse consequences of any plea agreement and saying that this

two whites. Freeman completely fails to identify any group. Another possible group is one formed regardless of race. It is probably the killing of two victims that is the similarly situated group. Similarly situated should probably not include race because it is the baseline. Moreover, the strength of the governments case is also part of similarly situated. United States v. Smith, 231 F.3d 800, 810 (11th Cir. 2000). Thus, the "similarly situated" group are defendants who kill two victims and confess to one of the murders.

is why he will not do so. This statement is a statement of lack of intent to discriminate. Thus, Freeman has not shown purposeful discrimination in his case.

In State v. Courchesne, 2001 WL 1569981, *2 (Conn. Super. 2001)(unpublished opinion)¹⁴, the Connecticut Superior Court denied a reverse *McCleskey* claim. The defendant, Courchesne, is white, and the two victims were black. Courchesne filed a motion to prohibit a death penalty hearing. Courchesne argued that the prosecutor's decision to seek the death penalty was improper based on the race of the victims. He asserted that the prosecutor indicted that there would be no plea bargaining because the victims were black. The Court rejected this claim reasoning that recognition by a prosecutor that the victims of a capital felony are from a minority group and the individual charged with capital felony for the murder of those victims is white and that those facts would rebut previous claims of racial unfairness in the imposition of the death penalty is not

¹⁴ Unpublished opinions are persuasive authority. United Futrell. F.3d 1289 (11th Cir. 209 1286, States v. 2000)(explaining although an unpublished opinion is not binding, it is persuasive authority citing 11th Cir. R. 36-2). There is a controversy about the constitutionality of rules prohibiting parties from citing unpublished opinions. Anastasoff v. United States, 223 F.3d 898 (8th Cir. 2000)(holding that Eighth Circuit rule, 28A(I), which prohibits the citation of unpublished opinions is unconstitutional under Article III), vacated as moot in Anastasoff v. United States, 235 F.3d 1054, 1056 (8th Cir.2000; But see Hart v. Massanari, 266 F.3d 1155, 1160 (9th Cir.2001); Symbol Technologies, Inc. v. Lemelson Medical, 277 F.3d 1361, 1368 (Fed. Cir. 2002)(upholding the Circuit rule, Fed. Cir. R. 47.6(b), prohibiting unpublished opinion being cited as authority). This Court has no rule prohibiting the citing of unpublished opinions.

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